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We’re on a mission to bring a 
new vehicle for affordable 
housing development to York 
Region.

The Housing for All Land Trust (HALT) is 
working to bring together resources, 
expertise, and capital to unlock and 
preserve affordable housing in York Region. 
Building on lessons learned from land trusts 
across Canada, we are seeking to partner 
with municipalities, the private sector and 
local non-profit housing operators to create 
new affordable housing, holding these 
community-owned real estate assets in 
perpetuity. 

Housing 
for All 
Land Trust

I N T R O D U C I N G  T H E
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HALT will deliver value by:

Acting as a reliable point of contact
for the acquisition of housing units 
from private sector developers and 
local government to affordable housing 
operators.

Taking on real estate development and 
acquisition activities to support local 
non-profit housing operators to expand 
their portfolio without needing to bring 
on their own development capabilities.

The land trust will create and preserve affordable 
housing.

ü Creating new housing across the spectrum of 
community housing, including supportive and 
affordable rental housing 

ü Raising and deploying capital to enable new 
development and preservation/renewal of existing 
affordable housing

ü Maintaining assets as affordable in perpetuity

The land trust will achieve greater scale and 
sustainability in the community housing sector.

ü Model a sustainable growth engine that increases the 
capacity of human resources dedicated to the growth 
of community-owned affordable housing, reducing 
duplication of efforts across the sector

ü Ensure the professional management of assets for 
long-term sustainability. 

HALT has the potential to create a lasting 
impact in the York Region housing system.



The land trust is looking to 
collaborate with municipalities 
and other levels of 
government to realize housing 
opportunities for those in 
greatest need in our region. 

We need help from 
York Region 
municipalities to 
realize this 
mission.

How to get involved as a municipal 
partner:

• Dedicate land and units to help grow the land 
trust’s portfolio over time

• Provide funding to support the land trust’s 
acquisitions and activities

• Expedite development approvals and provide 
other incentives to support the land trust’s 
developments

• Build up the financial and operating capacity of 
partnering non-profit housing operators in York 
Region to ensure we can serve a broad range of 
people in need



 

 

 

 
  

February 7, 2025 

Private and Confidential 

Delivered via E-mail to 
Todd.Coles@vaughan.ca 

Rohit R. Kumar   
Direct Line: 416.595.2665 
rrkumar@millerthomson.com 

File No. 0119473.0011 

City of Vaughan 
Office of the City Clerk 
2141 Major Mackenzie Drive  
Vaughan ON  L6A 1T1 

Attention: Members of Council 

Dear Members of Council: 

Re: Written Submission of Mario Racco (the “Respondent”) in respect of Formal Code 
of Conduct Complaint Investigation Report #102924.  

The following is the Respondent’s submission in respect of the above-noted report of the Integrity 
Commissioner (“IC”) dated January 31, 2025 (the “Report”). We ask that this submission be 
included on the agenda for the Committee of the Whole Meeting on February 11, 2025, and be 
considered by the Committee of the Whole in determining whether to accept the IC’s 
recommendations in the Report that a formal Reprimand be issued to the Respondent and that 
his remuneration be suspended for a period of 60 days (the “Financial Penalty”). 

The Respondent relies on the submissions made in our: (1) letter to the IC dated November 14, 
2024, in response to Notice of Complaint #102924 dated November 4, 2024; (2) our letter dated 
December 5, 2024, in response to the IC’s Draft Report dated November 29, 2024; and (3) our 
letter dated December 20, 2024, providing additional comments in response to the IC’s letter dated 
December 11, 2024. Copies of our prior correspondence are enclosed herewith.  The Respondent 
maintains the position, as set out in our prior correspondence, that the sending of the October 26 
email and attachments (the “The October 26 Email”) cannot constitute a breach of Rule 3 of the 
Code of Ethical Conduct for Members of Council and Local Boards (the “Code”) in the 
circumstances under which it was sent. The October 26 Email was directed only to Members of 
Council and city staff, all of whom are bound by confidentiality obligations. This is reinforced by 
the IC’s findings in Report file 09.29.09, where the IC acknowledged that confidentiality rules, 
including Rule 3 of the Code, extend to Council members and their staff. On page 4, the IC states:  

…[I]nsofar as Members of Council are regularly privy to confidential information 
acquired by virtue of their office, and insofar as their staff often have access to the 
same confidential information as the Members of Council, the rules regarding 
Confidential Information (Rule 3) and the Key Principles (Rule 1) necessarily 
include the transfer of responsibility and adherence to the rules… 

Additionally, or alternatively, the Respondent maintains that any alleged breach was unintentional 
and not made in bad faith to cause harm. The October 26 Email was sent in good faith for the sole 
purpose to ensure that Vaughan City Council had the necessary materials before it to make an 

ferranta
CW(2)



Page 2 

 

informed decision on the IC’s recommendations in respect of prior complaints against the 
Respondent, thereby safeguarding the Respondent’s right to procedural fairness. 

The Respondent submits that the Financial Penalty recommended by the IC in the Report is 
excessive and disproportionate. This is evident when compared to past recommendations by IC 
Suzanne Craig, where breaches of Rule 3 of the Code resulted in reprimands without any financial 
penalty.  

In Code of Conduct Complaint Investigation #052818(F), Councillor Tony Carella (“Councillor 
Carella”) knowingly and in bad faith disclosed confidential information, yet the IC recommended 
only a reprimand with no financial penalty. By contrast, the Respondent did not disclose 
confidential information to the public and had no intent to cause harm.  

In Town of Gravenhurst Code of Conduct Complaint Investigation #100724, Councillor Jo Murphy 
(“Councillor Murphy”) publicly disclosed confidential information during a Council meeting, 
claiming the disclosure was inadvertent because she failed to realize the information was 
confidential. Despite the IC’s finding that the agenda minutes were clearly marked as confidential 
and that Councillor Murphy knew or ought to have known not to disclose the information publicly, 
the IC imposed no financial penalty, instead recommending only a reprimand and educational 
measures. Unlike Councillor Murphy, the Respondent did not disclose confidential information to 
the public, but only to individuals bound by their own confidentiality obligations owed to the City. 
Moreover, Councillor Murphy was also found to have previously breached the Code, yet the IC did 
not consider the prior history sufficient to warrant any financial penalty. 

In both referenced cases, the breaches posed a greater risk of harm than in the present case as 
the disclosure was made to the public. Nonetheless, the IC recommended only reprimands in 
those cases. This stark inconsistency is not justifiable and undermines the principles of fairness 
and impartiality that the IC is to uphold. 

While in the Report the IC stresses the need to protect the integrity and reputation of the City of 
Vaughan, imposing such an excessive penalty without regard to the outcomes of prior cases, 
serves the opposite effect. It signals a troubling inconsistency in the application of discipline 
amongst Councillors and raises serious concerns about the integrity and impartiality of the 
decision-making process. Accordingly, the Respondent requests that City Council reject the IC’s 
excessive Financial Penalty recommendation. 

Yours truly, 
 
MILLER THOMSON LLP 
Per: 
 
 
Rohit R. Kumar  
RRK/kd  
 
Enclosures  
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